ARTICLE IN PRESS

Vaccine xxx (xxxx) xxx

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Vaccine

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/vaccine

Do parasite infections interfere with immunisation? A review and meta-analysis

Liana F. Wait*, Andrew P. Dobson, Andrea L. Graham

Department of Ecology and Evolutionary Biology, Princeton University, Princeton, NJ 08544, USA

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 18 February 2020 Received in revised form 12 May 2020 Accepted 21 June 2020 Available online xxxx

Keywords: Parasites Infection Interaction Meta-analysis Vaccine

ABSTRACT

Immune responses to vaccination are heterogeneous between individuals; the same vaccine that provides protection in one circumstance may be ineffective in another. One factor that could influence the response to vaccination is concurrent or prior infection with unrelated parasites. Here, we review both the experimental and epidemiological literature on parasite-vaccine interactions, and present a metaanalysis of the published data. In total, our review returned 101 relevant articles, 50 of which met criteria for meta-analysis. Parasite factors potentially affecting vaccination include the type of parasite involved, the stage of infection, and the timing of infection relative to vaccination. Vaccine factors affecting likelihood of interference by parasites include vaccine formulation, route of administration, and the type of immune response required to provide protection against the target antigen. Our meta-analysis of these data show three key things: (1) parasite infections at the time of vaccination result in worse immunisation outcomes, (2) chronic helminth infections are more likely to negatively impact immunisation than acute helminth infections, and (3) thymus-dependent vaccines are more susceptible to parasite interference than thymus-independent vaccines. Our findings highlight the importance of considering and mitigating parasite infections: by taking parasites into account, it should be possible to more effectively immunise individuals and populations.

© 2020 Published by Elsevier Ltd.

Contents

1.	Introduction	00	
2. Methods			
	2.1. Literature search and inclusion criteria	00	
	2.2. Extraction and preparation of data	00	
	2.3. Analysis and publication bias	00	
3.	Results and discussion	00	
	3.1. Publication bias	00	
	3.2. Parasite factors	00	
	3.3. Vaccine factors	00	
	3.4. Study design	00	
4.	Conclusions	00	
	Declaration of Competing Interest	00	
	Appendix A. Supplementary material	00	
	References	00	

* Corresponding author. E-mail address: lwait@princeton.edu (L.F. Wait).

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2020.06.064 0264-410X/© 2020 Published by Elsevier Ltd.



Review



2

L.F. Wait et al./Vaccine xxx (xxxx) xxx

1. Introduction

Vaccination is an enormously important public health measure that saves and improves the quality of lives of humans and animals worldwide [1]. Effective vaccination relies on the production of a robust, appropriate, and long-lasting immune response. However, not everyone reacts immunologically to vaccination in the same way. Many different factors shape the immune response mounted by an individual when they are vaccinated. The nature of the vaccine itself is important: vaccine antigens differ in their immunogenicity and in the type of immune response that they stimulate, and vaccine formulation can also influence success of immunisation [2-4]. The state of the host at the time of vaccination is of equal importance: host genetic makeup, physiological status, and infection history can all influence the way an individual responds to vaccination [5-8].

Since the 1960s, there has been a steady stream of studies indicating that parasite infections (unrelated to the vaccine target) could be influencing immunisation. These empirical studies have reported, for example, that individuals infected with helminths [9], protozoa [10], bacteria [11], and viruses [12] respond differently to vaccination compared with uninfected individuals. The effects of enteric viruses on poliovirus vaccine effectiveness have been previously reviewed [13], but no such review exists of how, in general, parasites (broadly defined to include helminths, protozoa, bacteria, and viruses) impact immunisation. We wanted to fill this gap and discover overarching patterns, so we reviewed the existing literature to develop a meta-analysis that examines parasite-vaccine interactions to determine whether, when, and how parasite infections might influence immunisation.

2. Methods

2.1. Literature search and inclusion criteria

We searched the literature on parasite-vaccine interactions up to February 2019 using PubMed, Science Direct, and Web of Science. Our search included combinations of the following terms, plus their variants: *vaccine*, *interaction*, *interference*, *facilitation*, *infection*, *concurrent*. The bibliographies of all retrieved articles were further searched for additional relevant studies, which were also included in our analysis. Our criteria were intentionally kept broad to include all mammalian hosts, and parasites were defined broadly to include helminths, protozoa, bacteria, and viruses.

Studies were included in the review if they: (1) Compared the response to vaccination between an infected group (i.e. infected with a parasite other than the vaccine target) and an uninfected control group, and (2) Measured the response to vaccination in some way (e.g. antibody titres, measure of cell mediated immunity, seroconversion rate, rate of resistance or survival in the face of a post-vaccination challenge with the vaccine target). Studies were included in the meta-analysis if they met the above criteria and if: (1) Individuals in the infected group were infected at the time of vaccination, and (2) Data suitable for meta-analysis were available (i.e. information was provided on the number of individuals in the different treatment groups, and measures of mean and variance were provided for numeric data). Studies that involved a different timing of infection (i.e. infected post-vaccination), or that treated individuals for parasites as part of the study were excluded from the meta-analysis but included in the review. In all, we reviewed 101 studies, 50 of which were included in our





meta-analysis. Our search and screening process is depicted in the PRISMA flow diagram in Fig. 1.

2.2. Extraction and preparation of data

Summary data were collected from the text, tables, and figures of included studies. WebPlotDigitizer, Version 4.2 was used to digitally extract data from figures. Two datasets were collected and analysed separately: an immune dataset, based on immunological responses to vaccination, and a challenge dataset, based on how infected vs uninfected groups fared when challenged with the vaccine target post-vaccination.

Data were standardised for comparison by calculating Hedges' g index of effect size with 95% confidence intervals. Hedges' g quantifies the standardised mean difference between the effect of a treatment relative to a control group (in our case, we compared groups that were infected at the time of vaccination vs uninfected controls), and is weighted by sample size and the pooled standard deviation [14]. In the context of our meta-analysis, an effect size of 0 implies that parasites have no effect on immunisation, an effect size >0 implies that parasites positively affected the efficacy of immunisation, and an effect size <0 implies that parasites negatively affected immunisation.

Hedges' g was calculated directly for numeric data (e.g. on immune response to vaccination or infection intensity post-challenge). For binary data (seroconversion in response to vaccination, or survival rates and absolute ability to block an infection post-challenge), a log odds ratio was first calculated and this was then converted to Hedges' g (the standardised mean difference) for comparison [15,16].

Where more than one immunological parameter was measured, the parameter most closely linked to the desired effector outcome for the vaccine target was chosen. Our choice for each study was guided by the authors of those studies, and by searching for information on the immune response required to combat each of the vaccine targets. For example, vaccine-specific cytophilic antibodies or % vaccine-specific T cells were often considered the best measures of vaccine-induced immunity [17,18]. For studies that measured the same variable at multiple time-points [19,20], the effect size was calculated for each time-point and these were then averaged to provide a single effect size for that variable/study. Several studies resulted in multiple effect sizes as they independently investigated more than one vaccine [21–23], more than one parasite [9,24], or reported on more than one independent experiment [25,26].

In addition to effect sizes, information was collected from each study on a range of different parasite, vaccine and other relevant

Table 1

Information on a range of parasite, vaccine, and other relevant factors were extracted from all included studies.

Parasite factors	 Parasite species Broad parasite group (Helminth, Protozoa, Virus, Bacteria) Stage or type of infection (Acute or Chronic) 			
Vaccine factors	 Vaccine target (target species, toxin, or model antigen) Vaccine target class (Virus, Bacteria, Helminth, Toxin, Protozoa, Model Antigen) Vaccine type (Live attenuated, Inactivated, Subunit, etc.) Route of administration (oral, subcutaneous, etc.) Is immunisation Thymus Dependent or Thymus Independent? 			
Other factors	 Host species (Human, Mouse, Rat, Cattle, Sheep, Pig) Study design (Experimental or Epidemiological) Agreement or Mismatch in type of immune response required for immunisation vs type of immune response stimulated by parasite (e.g. under the Th1/Th2 paradigm)? 			

factors (Table 1). Some of these factors were stated explicitly in the papers, and other were extrapolated based on knowledge of the parasites and vaccine targets involved: For each study, for example, we classified the immune response required for immunisation as being either in agreement or mismatch with the immune response induced by the concurrent infection, based on the T-helper (Th)1/Th2 paradigm [27] – under this paradigm, different and mutually inhibitory immune responses are required for macroparasites (e.g. helminths, cleared by Th2 responses) vs. microparasites (e.g. bacteria or protozoa, cleared by Th1 responses), so an example of a mismatch would be a study investigating the effects of roundworm infection on measles vaccination. We also classified each immune response as being either Thymus Dependent or Thymus Independent based on whether immunisation for the vaccine target in question relies on help from T lymphocytes [28].

2.3. Analysis and publication bias

Following extraction, data were graphed and analysed using R version 3.6.0 in RStudio. The pooled effect size and 95% confidence intervals for each type of parasite were estimated using a random effects model in the R package "metafor" to account for between-study heterogeneity. We used one-way and two-way ANOVAs (with study ID as a random effect to account for between-study heterogeneity and non-independence of multiple observations from a given study) to identify relationships between the response to vaccination and many of the factors presented in Table 1, including the broad groups of both parasites and vaccine target, the stage of infection, and the type of immune response required for immunisation.

We performed two tests to account for the possibility of publication bias in this meta-analysis. Firstly, we made funnel plots of the two data sets and performed Egger's test to determine whether or not publication bias was present. We then ran Rosenthal's Failsafe-n, which estimates the number of unpublished nonsignificant studies that would need to exist in order to negate any significant meta-analytical patterns [29]. A Failsafe-n larger than 5n + 10 (where n is the number of studies included in the meta-analysis) is conventionally considered large enough that publication bias can be safely ignored [29].

3. Results and discussion

Altogether, the extracted immune dataset comprised 72 effect sizes from 40 studies, and the challenge data comprised 14 effect sizes from 11 studies. Additionally, 7 of the effect sizes for the challenge dataset had a corresponding measure in the immune dataset,

Table 2

Pooled effect sizes for different types of parasitic infection on the immune response to vaccination (immune dataset) and on the resistance and survival of individuals who were challenged with the vaccine target post-vaccination (challenge dataset), calculated using a random effects model to account for between-study heterogeneity and repeated measures.

	Effect Size (Hedges' G)		
	Parasite group	n	Pooled effect size (95% Cl)
Immune dataset	Helminth	49	-0.40 (-0.58, -0.23)
	Protozoa	10	-0.87 (-1.16, -0.57)
	Virus	12	-0.36 (-0.56, -0.16)
	Bacteria	1	0.56
Challenge dataset	Helminth	10	-1.48 (-2.60, -0.36)
	Protozoa	3	-2.95 (-3.98, -1.92)
	Virus	1	0.00

allowing us the opportunity to compare immunological and functional measures of immunisation for those studies. The full immune and challenge datasets are available as a supplementary material.

3.1. Publication bias

Our funnel plots (not shown) visually indicated the presence of publication bias in both the immune and challenge datasets, and this was confirmed by Egger's test (p < 0.005 for both datasets). However, our Rosenthal's Failsafe-n calculations indicated that we could safely ignore publication bias, as the Failsafe-n's for both the immune and challenge datasets were much larger than the stipulated 5n + 10, indicating that publication bias alone does not account for our meta-analytical results (immune dataset: n = 72, Failsafe-n = 2908, p < 0.0001; challenge dataset: n = 14, Failsafe-n = 306, p < 0.0001). That is, although the data suggest that studies finding an effect of parasite infection on vaccination are more likely to be published than those finding no effect, the number of unpublished studies that would be required to alter the conclusions of this meta-analysis is very large. Furthermore, when we divided the immune dataset based on the study design (Experimental or Epidemiological), we only found evidence of bias for the Experimental subset (Epidemiological immune studies: n = 23, Eggers test p = 0.3875; Experimental studies: n = 49, Eggers test p < 0.001), and again found that a very large number of studies would be needed to negate the meta-analytical results for these low-sample size experimental studies (Experimental studies: n = 50, Failsafe-n = 997, p < 0.0001).

Overall, our meta-analysis showed that parasitic infections at the time of vaccination were associated with worse vaccination outcomes (Table 2). Immune responses to vaccination were on average weaker for groups that were infected with helminths, protozoa, and viruses at the time of vaccination when compared with uninfected controls. Furthermore, individuals who were infected with helminths, protozoa or viruses at the time of vaccination were less likely to resist or survive infection by the vaccine target pathogen when challenged post-vaccination. Only one paper investigating the effects of bacterial infection on immunisation met our meta-analysis inclusion criteria [30], so we cannot draw any conclusions regarding bacterial infections from the meta-analysis. Several other studies that we reviewed reported that bacterial infections negatively impact immune responses and ability to resist the targeted infection post-vaccination [11,31,32]. There have also been a number of studies on the role of the microbiome in influencing response to vaccination - some have shown that certain microbiome components improve immunisation [33–35], while others have shown no significant effect [36].

In the sections below, we discuss the roles of parasite factors, vaccine factors, and study design (outlined in Table 1) in determining the impact of infection upon immunisation. The findings from our meta-analysis are interspersed with discussion, focusing on ideas and examples from our review. But first: our meta-analysis has several limitations, which we'll acknowledge here. Because we asked a very broad question (do parasites in general, no matter their taxonomic differences, impact immunisation), and because we had wide inclusion-criteria (any mammalian host, experimental or epidemiological study design, varied vaccine formulations and schedules, etc.), there is a lot of heterogeneity in the studies, and it is therefore difficult to pinpoint the immunological mechanisms behind our findings. Secondly, although we made considerable effort to optimise our search strategy, it is possible that we missed relevant papers. Finally, there is probably bias inherent in which studies have been undertaken (let alone published) on this subject: it seems likely that researchers would investigate scenarios in which they think parasite-vaccine interactions might be of practical importance. Nonetheless, our results offer interesting and important insights into a major constraint on the world of vaccine-induced immunisation.

3.2. Parasite factors

Many parasite factors could be involved in determining the outcome of parasite-vaccine interactions. One important factor is the type of parasite involved, since parasite taxa stimulate or discourage the immune system in divergent ways: e.g. interference with a vaccine could be the result of parasite-induced systemic immunosuppression, a qualitative mismatch in the type of immune response required to combat the parasite vs immunise against a vaccine target. Additionally, since different immune profiles are present in chronic vs acute infections, the timing of infection relative to vaccination could also play an important role in determining the outcome of an interaction. We discuss these in turn, with examples, in the following paragraphs.

Some parasites induce systemic immunosuppression in their hosts, thus inhibiting immune responses to other infections and to vaccines. In some cases, this immunosuppression is achieved via depletion of immune cells [37,38], and in other cases it's achieved via upregulation of tolerance or anti-inflammatory mechanisms [39,40]. Systemic immunosuppression due to lymphopenia has been shown to interfere with immunisation in HIV infected individuals, for example [18,41,42].

In other cases, the outcome of a parasite-vaccine interaction could be determined by whether there is mismatch or agreement between the type of immune response stimulated by a parasite and the type of response required to protect against the vaccine target. For example, if cell mediated immunity (often promoted by Th1 cells) is necessary for effective immunisation, but a host is infected with a parasite that skews the immune system towards a Th2 response, infection would be predicted to interfere with immunisation. Conversely, if a concurrent parasite stimulates the same branch of the immune system as required for immunisation, this immunological environment would be predicted to facilitate immunisation. These ideas are similar to well documented interactions that occur during parasite co-infections [39,43-45]. Our review included several studies showing that Th2-inducing parasites can interfere with immunisation by vaccines requiring a Th1 type response for protection [43,46–50]. However, other mechanisms must be invoked in some cases: for example, a decrease in vaccine efficacy in the presence of helminth infection, which was reversed by anthelmintic treatment and was associated with an increase in Th1 cytokines, but not a counterbalancing decrease in Th2 or T-regulatory cytokines, indicates that simply clearing the helminths can facilitate immunisation, even if helminth-induced T-helper responses persist [51]. We didn't find any examples of a Th1 bias impairing Th2 immunisation, probably due to the low number of vaccine target species that require a Th2 response for clearance. Overall, our meta-analysis didn't reveal a statistically significant relationship between agreement/mismatch in immune response and immunisation (Immune dataset: Agreement: n = 18, Mismatch: n = 54, F = 1.66, p = 0.202; Challenge dataset: Agreement: n = 3, Mismatch: n = 11, F = 0.01, p = 0.917), but we may not have had sufficient power to answer this question, given that the majority of the studies involved helminth infections and microparasite vaccine targets (i.e., immunological mismatches).

High levels of immunological similarity between the infecting parasite and the vaccine target could also potentially interfere with immunisation via original antigenic sin [52], whereby the existence of immune memory against a closely related parasite prevents the production of a new, more specific, immune response against a new parasite or antigen. Several studies have investigated the potential for non-polio enteroviruses to interfere with polio

vaccination, and non-tuberculous *Mycobacteria* to interfere with BCG vaccination – some have found evidence of interference [53,54], while others have not [55–57]. Given the almost endless potential for different combinations of parasites and vaccines, it is perhaps unsurprising that multiple interference mechanisms might be involved. Our meta-analysis doesn't have the power to shed much light on these mechanisms, but we do, importantly, show that whatever the mechanism, the outcomes of parasite-vaccine interactions tend to be negative.

Indeed, our meta-analysis indicates that parasite-vaccine interactions are overall negative for immunisation (Table 2), although only a few studies have investigated the facilitative effects of heterologous infection on vaccination outcome. Conceptually, such facilitation should be possible if an infecting parasite upregulates the same pathways required for effective immunisation for a given vaccine. This principle is one basis for vaccines that use live bacterial vectors [58]. We found three studies that demonstrated correlations between certain parasites and upregulated humoral vaccine responses: an epidemiological study found that malaria-infected individuals produced higher geometric mean titres in response to a human papilloma virus vaccine [59], and *H. pylori* infection was associated with higher seroconversion rates to a Salmonella typhi vaccine [30], and to an oral cholera vaccine [60]. None of these studies measured cytokine or leukocyte profiles, however, and these higher antibody titres could also be explained by crossreactive antibodies. More studies are needed if we want to understand the mechanism behind such facilitative interactions.

For chronically infecting parasites, different immune profiles are sometimes present during the acute and chronic stages of infection, and so these different stages of infection could interact differently with the same vaccine. Several vaccine trials have investigated the differential effects of acute versus chronic infection on vaccination efficacy. For mice experimentally infected with *Schistosoma japonicum* and then vaccinated for Hepatitis B, chronic but not acute infections were associated with reduced humoral immunity [43]. Similarly, mice infected with *Schistosoma mansoni*



Fig. 2. Effect of helminth infection stage and thymus dependence on immunisation. Studies of individuals with chronic helminth infections at the time of vaccination had worse immunisation outcomes (more negative effect sizes when compared with uninfected controls) than studies of acute helminth infections (ANOVA: F = 4.61, p = 0.04). Thymus dependent vaccines also had worse immunisation outcomes than thymus independent vaccines in helminth-infected individuals (ANOVA: F = 17.38, p = 0.0001). However, there was no statistically significant interaction between the stage of helminth infection and thymus dependency (Two-way ANOVA: F = 1.44, p = 0.23).

and then vaccinated with tetanus toxoid at different time points post-infection showed no difference compared to uninfected controls if vaccinated 1–6 weeks post-infection, but lower titres when vaccinated 9 or 12 weeks post-infection [26]. In contrast, when mice were experimentally infected with *Trichinella spiralis*, acute infection impaired humoral response and lymphocyte proliferation, while chronic infection did not [61], and mice vaccinated 7 days post infection with *Strongyloides ratti* had worse outcomes than those vaccinated 14 days post infection [62]. In cattle experimentally infected with *Trypanosoma congolense* and then vaccinated for *Brucella abortus*, both acute and chronic infections were associated with an impaired humoral response [63].

Interestingly, despite these complexities, our meta-analysis points to a relationship between stage of infection and immunisation for helminth infections: chronic helminth infections (n = 30) were associated with worse immunisation outcomes than acute helminth infections (n = 19) (Fig. 2, F = 4.05, p = 0.05). No associations were found between immunisation outcome and stage of viral, protozoal, or bacterial infection, possibly due to the smaller number of studies that investigated these types of infection (Table 2).

Most studies of parasite-vaccine interactions have investigated the effects of infection at the time of vaccination on vaccine outcome (hence why this was the focus of our meta-analysis), but some have looked at the effect of infections following vaccination on immune protection and memory. Two studies found that individuals infected with an unrelated parasite post-vaccination lacked protection when subsequently challenged with the vaccine target [21,64]. Another study found evidence that post-vaccine infection with the vaccine target itself could erase vaccine-induced memory - vaccination allowed mice to survive challenge, but rather than boosting immunity, this challenge purged vaccine-induced memory B cells, such that post-challenge vaccinated mice were as immunologically susceptible to subsequent infection as unvaccinated controls [65]. However, most studies have found only transient effects [66], or no effect, of post-vaccination infection on vaccine induced protection to challenge [67,68] or memory [69,70]. A great deal of further research will be required to determine causes of such divergent outcomes.

3.3. Vaccine factors

Many vaccine factors are likely involved in determining whether and how parasites could interact with a given vaccine. These include the vaccine type, formulation, and the route of administration. Vaccines that are already less immunogenic (for any reason) than other vaccines may be more susceptible to interference from infecting parasites. What exactly makes for a strongly immunogenic vaccine remains somewhat of a mystery, but there is no doubt that such variation in immunogenicity exists [4]. The vaccine target antigen itself could also play a role in determining whether or not a vaccine is susceptible to interference by parasite infections – historically, viruses and toxins have been the easiest vaccine targets, while it is notoriously difficult to develop effective vaccines against metazoan parasites [71].

Vaccine type could also be important in determining the outcome of a parasite-vaccine interaction. Vaccines based on live attenuated organisms are conventionally considered to be more effective than other vaccines types due to the fact that they can replicate in the vaccinated individual, increasing antigen exposure, and because they are capable of inducing both cell-mediated and humoral immunity [72]; similarly, whole-organism inactivated vaccines are thought to be more effective than vaccines directed against a small number of specific epitopes [73]. Vaccines with increased effectiveness could also be less susceptible to parasite interference. There is some evidence supporting this in the

literature – in one study, helminth infection interfered with immunisation by a DNA subunit vaccine, but not by a vaccine comprised of live attenuated sporozoites [74]. However, our meta-analysis did not find any associations between vaccine type and the strength or direction of parasite-vaccine interactions, neither when vaccine types were divided at a fine scale, nor when we compared live attenuated vaccines (n = 16) with all other types (F = 0.027, p = 0.87).

Adjuvants, by increasing vaccine immunogenicity, may also be able to help override parasite interference with immunisation – one study showed that the negative effects of parasiteinterference could be overcome when the vaccine was formulated with the right adjuvant [48].

Thymus dependence is another immune factor that seems important in determining whether a parasite will interfere with immunisation- that is, the outcome of a parasite-vaccine interaction may depend on whether or not T lymphocytes are required for immunity against the vaccine target species [75]. Our metaanalysis indicated that parasite infections are more likely to interfere with thymus dependent (n = 44) than thymus independent (n = 28) vaccines (F = 9.75, p = 0.003), implying that T-lymphocyte modulation may be a key mechanism underlying parasite-vaccine interactions. This effect emerged even we analysed helminth infections alone and controlled for whether the infection was acute (n = 19) or chronic (n = 30) at the time of vaccination (Fig. 2, F = 6.99, p = 0.011). This effect also emerged when we further analysed those studies involving experimental helminth infections (Acute: n = 19, Chronic: n = 22, F = 6.10, p = 0.018), though no thymus-dependency pattern was observed for the small number of epidemiological helminth infection studies (n = 8, F = 0.956, p = 0.373).

Finally, the route of vaccine administration could play a role in determining whether or not parasite-vaccine interactions influence immunisation. Oral vaccines are used primarily when mucosal immunity – mediated by IgA - is essential for protection, but are also used for wildlife vaccine trials where immunisation relies on the uptake of vaccine baits from the environment. Orally administered vaccines also come into direct contact with gastrointestinal parasites, whereas gastrointestinal parasites and parenterally administered vaccines interact primarily via the immune system. A study of *M. tuberculosis* interference with HIV vaccination found that tuberculosis negatively impacted immunisation when the vaccine was administered by the intramuscular but not by the intranasal route [31]. However, few studies have compared





parasite-vaccine interactions for different routes of administration. Our meta-analysis found no difference between vaccines administered parenterally vs orally (F = 2.34, p = 0.131), however 66/72 of the immune effect sizes were for parenterally administered vaccines, and so more varied studies are probably required to answer this question.

3.4. Study design

Studies hoping to investigate the influence of parasite infection on vaccine-induced immunity face several challenges. They must choose the time scale on which to study – acute vs chronic infections, and the timing of infection relative to vaccination – and they must decide on the best correlate of immunity for the vaccine in question, and on when to take measurements of immunity.

Many published studies in this field have simply measured vaccine specific antibodies at a single timepoint, but this might not always be the best correlate of protection. The most convincing studies are arguably those that not only measure vaccineinduced immunity but also challenge subjects with the vaccine target post-vaccination. A small subset of studies in our meta-analysis provided both immune and challenge data (Fig. 3). There appears to be qualitative agreement between the immune and challenged effect sizes for 6/7 studies- that is, parasitic infections that resulted in weaker vaccine specific immune responses (negative effect sizes), also negatively impacted resistance (absolute ability to avoid infection) and survival when individuals were experimentally infected with the vaccine target. However, our review also uncovered some studies that found a discrepancy between the immune response measured and how individuals fared when actually challenged with the vaccine target. For example, mice with pre-existing orthopoxvirus immunity produced depressed humoral and cell-mediated responses to influenza vaccination, but when challenged with influenza the infected mice fared just as well as controls [76]. Of more concern are the cases where immune measurements imply protection that isn't there - in one study, pigs infected with Porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus in-between primary and secondary vaccination for swine influenza virus (SIV) had identical serological profiles to uninfected vaccinated pigs, but had worse pathology (microscopic and macroscopic lesions), and higher viral shedding when subsequently challenged with SIV [68]. These complexities suggest that it is of the utmost importance to undertake studies of the robustness of vaccine protection in the context of a variety of infections, especially those likely to jointly affect health of the target host species. The ideal study of parasite-vaccine interactions would measure multiple immune factors (humoral and cell mediated immunity), at multiple time-points, and would challenge subjects post-vaccination, or monitor their exposure to the vaccine target species, if epidemiological.

The choice between performing an experimental or epidemiological study could also influence whether or not a study finds evidence of parasite-vaccine interactions: experimental studies have the upper hand in terms of the ability to manipulate and control, but epidemiological studies usually allow for increased sample sizes. However, our meta-analysis didn't find a statistically significant difference in immunisation outcome for experimental (n = 49) vs epidemiological (n = 23) studies of parasite-vaccine interactions (F = 3.18, p = 0.0784), though we might have expected more noise in cross-sectional epidemiological studies. When we ran analyses within these subsets, the Experimental immune dataset supported our main findings from the combined dataset: chronic helminth infections (n = 22) were associated with more negative outcomes than acute helminth infections (n = 19)(F = 4.96, p = 0.03), and thymus dependent vaccines (n = 34) were also more likely to be associated with worse immunisation than

thymus independent vaccines (n = 15) (F = 6.10, p = 0.018). The Epidemiological immune dataset, however, showed no relationship between thymus dependency and immunisation (Thymus dependent: n = 10, Thymus independent: n = 13, F = 0.643, p = 0.432), or between stage of infection immunisation (Acute: n = 6, Chronic: n = 17, F = 0.076, p = 0.786), and this lack of significance remained when it was further subset to only include epidemiological studies involving helminth infection.

Finally, parasite removal experiments, involving anti-parasitic treatment before or after vaccination, constitute another study design that has been used to identify parasite-vaccine interactions. We excluded these studies from our meta-analysis because some didn't test for parasitic infection prior to assigning individuals to treated or untreated groups, and because evidence exists that the effects of parasitic infection can last even long after those infections are treated or resolved [19]. However, these parasite removal experiments do provide evidence of parasite interference with immunisation, and they point to the possibility of using antiparasitic treatment as a public health measure to aid immunisation campaigns [50,77]. They also provide some insight into how such campaigns should be designed. For example, de-worming of individuals prior to vaccination appears to improve immunisation outcomes, but deworming post-vaccination has no beneficial effect [78]. De-worming far in advance of vaccination may also be preferable to de-worming at the time of vaccination - in laboratory mice, antibody titres were stronger the longer the interval between de-worming and vaccination, and antibody titres were still significantly lower in mice that were vaccinated 16 weeks post-de-worming compared with mice that were never infected [43].

4. Conclusions

Parasite-vaccine interactions can negatively impact immunisation. Though the mechanisms involved will vary for different combinations of parasite and vaccine, it seems clear that vaccinologists, medical professionals, and public health officials ought to account for parasites and their potential to obstruct immunisation. These considerations are of particular importance in populations with endemic parasite infections: vaccine campaigns in regions with neglected tropical diseases may be less likely to succeed than those in regions with fewer endemic parasites. Similarly, vaccines that are trialled in regions with parasites may fail and therefore not proceed further due to parasite obstruction rather than to a failure in vaccine design. With all this in mind, an increased awareness of parasite-vaccine interactions, and when, where, and how they might impact immunisation, could help us to more effectively administer vaccines to individuals, and to better implement vaccination campaigns for at-risk populations.

Declaration of Competing Interest

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

Acknowledgments

We thank the Princeton Open Access Publication Fund Program for funding the open access publication of this article so that it can be read by anyone.

Appendix A. Supplementary material

Supplementary data to this article can be found online at https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2020.06.064.

References

- [1] Ehreth J. The global value of vaccination. Vaccine 2003;21:596–600. <u>https:// doi.org/10.1016/S0264-410X(02)00623-0</u>.
- [2] Schijns V, Lavelle E. Trends in vaccine adjuvants. Expert Rev Vaccines 2011;10:539-50.
- [3] Ahmed R, Gray D. Immunological memory and protective immunity: understanding their relation. Science 1996;272(5258):54–60. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1126/science:272.5258.54</u>.
- [4] Mahanty S, Prigent A, Garraud O. Immunogenicity of infectious pathogens and vaccine antigens. BMC Immunol 2015;16:1–6. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/ s12865-015-0095-y.</u>
- [5] Flanagan KL, Fink AL, Plebanski M, Klein SL. Sex and gender differences in the outcomes of vaccination over the life course. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol 2017;33:577–99. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-cellbio-100616-060718</u>.
- [6] Poland G, Jacobson R. The genetic basis for variation in antibody response to vaccines. Curr Opin Pediatr 1998;10:208–15.
- [7] Kimman TG, Vandebriel RJ, Hoebee B. Genetic variation in the response to vaccination. Community Genet 2007;10:201–17. <u>https://doi.org/10.1159/</u> 000106559.
- [8] Reese TA, Bi K, Kambal A, Filali-Mouhim A, Beura LK, Bürger MC, et al. Sequential infection with common pathogens promotes human-like immune gene expression and altered vaccine response. Cell Host Microbe 2016;19:713–9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chom.2016.04.003</u>.
- [9] Esen M, Mordmüller B, de Salazar PM, Adegnika AA, Agnandji ST, Schaumburg F, et al. Reduced antibody responses against Plasmodium falciparum vaccine candidate antigens in the presence of Trichuris trichiura. Vaccine 2012;30:7621-4. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/i.vaccine.2012.10.026</u>.
- [10] Holland WG, Do TT, Huong NT, Dung NT, Thanh NG, Vercruysse J, et al. The effect of Trypanosoma evansi infection on pig performance and vaccination against classical swine fever. Vet Parasitol 2003;111:115–23. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1016/S0304-4017(02)00363-1</u>.
- [11] Flaherty DK, Vesosky B, Beamer GL, Stromberg P, Turner J. Exposure to Mycobacterium avium can modulate established immunity against Mycobacterium tuberculosis infection generated by Mycobacterium bovis BCG vaccination. J Leukoc Biol 2006;80:1262–71. https://doi.org/10.1189/jib.0606407.
- [12] Kahn JA, Xu J, Kapogiannis BG, Rudy B, Gonin R, Liu N, et al. Immunogenicity and safety of the human HIV-infected young women. Clin Infect Dis 2013;57:735–44. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/cid/cit319</u>.
- [13] Parker EPK, Kampmann B, Kang G, Grassly NC. Influence of enteric infections on response to oral poliovirus vaccine: A systematic review and meta-analysis. J Infect Dis 2014;210:853–64. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/infdis/jiu182</u>.
- [14] Hedges LV. Distribution theory for Glass's estimator of effect size and related estimators. J Educ Stat 1981;6:107–28.
- [15] Borenstein M, Hedges LV, Higgins JPT, Rothstein HR. Converting among effect sizes. Introd Meta-Anal 2009:45–9.
- [16] Sánchez-Meca J, Marín-Martínez F, Chacón-Moscoso S. Effect-size indices for dichotomized outcomes in meta-analysis. Psychol Methods 2003;8:448–67. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/1082-989X.8.4.448</u>.
- [17] Shollenberger LM, Bui C, Paterson Y, Allen K, Harn D. Successful vaccination of immune suppressed recipients using Listeria vector HIV-1 vaccines in helminth infected mice. Vaccine 2013;31:2050–6. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/ i.vaccine.2013.02.037</u>.
- [18] Sibailly T, Wiktor S, Tsai T, Cropp B, Ekpini E, Adjorlolo-Johnson G, et al. Poor antibody response to yellow fever vaccination in children infected with human immunodeficiency virus type 1. Pediatr Infect Dis J 1997;16:1177–9.
- [19] Haben I, Hartmann W, Breloer M. Nematode-induced interference with vaccination efficacy targets follicular T helper cell induction and is preserved after termination of infection. PLoS Negl Trop Dis 2014;8. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1371/iournal.pntd.0003170</u>.
- [20] Onah DN, Wakelin D. Trypanosome-induced suppression of responses to Trichinella spiralis in vaccinated mice. Int J Parasitol 1999;29:1017–26. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0020-7519(99)00071-5.
- [21] Caro MR, Buend AJ, Ortega N, Gallego MC, Mart CM, Cuello F. Influence of the Th2 immune response established by nippostrongylus brasiliensis infection on the protection offered by different vaccines against chlamydophila abortus infection. Vet Res Commun 2005;29:51–9.
- [22] Apiwattanakul N, Thomas PG, Iverson AR, McCullers JA. Chronic helminth infections impair pneumococcal vaccine responses. Vaccine 2014;32:5405–10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2014.07.107.
- [23] Cardemil CV, Estivariz C, Shrestha L, Sherchand JB, Sharma A, Gary HE, et al. The effect of diarrheal disease on bivalent oral polio vaccine (bOPV) immune response in infants in Nepal. Vaccine 2016;34:2519–26. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.vaccine.2016.03.027</u>.
- [24] Whitelaw D, Scott J, Reid H, Holmes P, Jennings F, Urquhart G. Immunosuppression in bovine trypanosomiasis: studies with louping-ill vaccine. Res Vet Sci 1979;26:102–7.
- [25] Haseeb MA, Craig JP. Suppression of the immune response to diphtheria toxoid in murine schistosomiasis. Vaccine 1997;15:45–50. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0264-410X(96)00120-X</u>.
- [26] Brito I, Peel M, Ree G. Immunological response to tetanus toxoid during a schistosomal infection in mice. J Trop Med Hyg 1976;79:161–3.
- [27] Romangnani S. The Th1 Th2 paradigm revisited. EFIS Overv Immunol Today 1997;18:263-6.

ARTICLE IN PRESS

L.F. Wait et al./Vaccine xxx (xxxx) xxx

- [28] Burns WH, Billups LC, Notkins AL. Thymus dependence of viral antigens. Nature 1975;256:654–6. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/256654a0</u>.
- [29] Rosenthal R. The, "file drawer problem" and tolerance for null results. Psychol Bull 1979;86:638–41.
- [30] Muhsen K, Pasetti MF, Reymann MK, Graham DY, Levine MM. Helicobacter pylori infection affects immune responses following vaccination of typhoid- naive US adults with attenuated salmonella typhi oral vaccine CVD 908- htrA. J Infect Dis 2014;209:1452-8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/ infdis/jit625</u>.
- [31] Ignatowicz L, Mazurek J, Leepiyasakulchai C, Sköld M, Hinkula J, Källenius G, Pawlowski A, Scriba TJ. Mycobacterium tuberculosis infection interferes with HIV vaccination in mice. PLoS ONE 2012;7(7):e41205. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0041205</u>.
- [32] Buddle BM, Wards BJ, Aldwell FE, Collins DM, De Lisle GW. Influence of sensitisation to environmental mycobacteria on subsequent vaccination against bovine tuberculosis. Vaccine 2002;20:1126–33. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1016/S0264-410X(01)00436-4</u>.
- [33] Salk HM, Simon WL, Lambert N, Kennedy RB, Grill DE, Kabat BF, et al. Taxa of the nasal microbiome are associated with influenza-specific IgA response to live attenuated influenza vaccine. PLoS One 2016;11:1–13. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1371/journal.pone.0162803</u>.
- [34] Huda MN, Lewis Z, Kalanetra KM, Rashid M, Ahmad SM, Raqib R, et al. Stool microbiota and vaccine responses of infants. Pediatrics 2014;134:e362–72. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2013-3937.
- [35] Harris VC, Armah G, Fuentes S, Korpela KE, Parashar U, Victor JC, et al. Significant correlation between the infant gut microbiome and rotavirus vaccine response in rural Ghana. J Infect Dis 2017;215:34–41. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1093/infdis/jiw518</u>.
- [36] Parker EPK, Praharaj I, Zekavati A, Lazarus RP, Giri S, Operario DJ, et al. Influence of the intestinal microbiota on the immunogenicity of oral rotavirus vaccine given to infants in south India. Vaccine 2018;36:264–72. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2017.11.031</u>.
- [37] Kerdiles YM, Cherif B, Marie JC, Tremillon N, Blanquier B, Libeau G, et al. Immunomodulatory properties of morbillivirus nucleoproteins. Viral Immunol 2006;19:324–34. <u>https://doi.org/10.1089/vim.2006.19.324</u>.
- [38] Rosenberg ZF, Fauci AS. Immunopathogenic mechanisms of HIV infection: cytokine induction of HIV expression. Immunol Today 1990;11:176–80. https://doi.org/10.1016/0167-5699(90)90070-P.
- [39] Su Z, Segura M, Morgan K, Concepcion J, Stevenson MM, Loredo-osti JC. Impairment of protective immunity to blood-stage malaria by concurrent nematode infection. Infect Immun 2005;73:3531–9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1128/</u> IAI.73.6.3531.
- [40] Chau TA, McCully ML, Brintnell W, An G, Kasper KJ, Vinés ED, et al. Toll-like receptor 2 ligands on the staphylococcal cell wall downregulate superantigeninduced T cell activation and prevent toxic shock syndrome. Nat Med 2009;15:641–8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nm.1965</u>.
- [41] Crum-Cianflone NF, Eberly LE, Duplessis C, Maguire J, Ganesan A, Faix D, et al. Immunogenicity of a monovalent 2009 influenza a (H1N1) vaccine in an immunocompromised population: A prospective study comparing HIVinfected adults with HIV-uninfected adults. Clin Infect Dis 2011;52:138–46. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/cid/cia019</u>.
- [42] Helfand RF, Witte D, Fowlkes A, Garcia P, Yang C, Fudzulani R, et al. Evaluation of the immune response to a 2-dose measles vaccination schedule administered at 6 and 9 months of age to HIV-infected and HIV-uninfected children in Malawi. J Infect Dis 2008;198:1457–65. <u>https://doi.org/10.1086/ 592756</u>.
- [43] Chen L, Liu W-q, Lei J-H, Guan F, Li M-J, Song W-J, Li Y-L, Wang T, Mulvenna J. Chronic Schistosoma japonicum infection reduces immune response to vaccine against hepatitis B in mice. PLoS ONE 2012;7(12):e51512. <u>https:// doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0051512</u>.
- [44] Ezenwa VO, Jolles AE. Opposite effects of anthelmintic treatment on microbial infection at individual versus population scales. Science 2015;347 (6218):175–7. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science:1261714</u>.
- [45] Pedersen AB, Antonovics J. Anthelmintic treatment alters the parasite community in a wild mouse host. Biol Lett 2013;9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1098/ rsbl.2013.0205</u>. 20130205–20130205.
- [46] Elias D, Akuffo H, Pawlowski A, Haile M, Schön T, Britton S. Schistosoma mansoni infection reduces the protective efficacy of BCG vaccination against virulent Mycobacterium tuberculosis. Vaccine 2005;23:1326–34. <u>https://doi. org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2004.09.038</u>.
- [47] Steenhard NR, Jungersen G, Kokotovic B, Beshah E, Dawson HD, Urban JF, et al. Ascaris suum infection negatively affects the response to a Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae vaccination and subsequent challenge infection in pigs. Vaccine 2009;27:5161–9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2009.05.075</u>.
- [48] Ayash-Rashkovsky M, Weisman Z, Diveley J, Moss RB, Bentwich Z, Borkow G. Generation of Th1 immune responses to inactivated, gp120-depleted HIV-1 in mice with a dominant Th2 biased immune profile via imunostimulatory oligonucleotides – relevance to AIDS vaccines in developing countries. Vaccine 2002;20:2684–92.
- [49] Dzhivhuho G, Rehrl S, Ndlovu H, Horsnell C, Brombacher F, Williamson A, et al. Chronic schistosomiasis suppresses HIV- specific responses to DNA-MVA and MVA- gp140 Env vaccine regimens despite antihelminthic treatment and increases helminth-associated pathology in a mouse model. PLoS Pathog 2018;14:e1007182.
- [50] Cooper P, Chico M, Sandoval C, Espinel I, Guevara A, Levine M, et al. Human infection with Ascaris lumbricoides is associated with suppression of the

interleukin-2 response to recombinant cholera toxin B subunit following vaccination with the live oral cholera vaccine CVD 103-HgR. Infect Immun 2001;69:1574–80. <u>https://doi.org/10.1128/IAI.69.3.1574-1580.2001</u>.

- [51] Da'dara AA, Harn DA. Elimination of helminth infection restores HIV-1C vaccine-specific T cell responses independent of helminth-induced IL-10. Vaccine 2010;28:1310-7. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2009.11.019</u>.
- [52] Francis T. On the doctrine of original antigenic sin. Proc Am Philos Soc 1960;104:572–8.
- [53] Triki H, Abdallah MVOM, Ben Aissa R, Bouratbine A, Kacemj- MBA, Bouraouil S, et al. Influence of host related factors on the antibody response to trivalent oral polio vaccine in Tunisian infants. Vaccine 1997;15:1123–9.
- [54] Praharaj I, Parker EPK, Giri S, Allen DJ, Silas S, Revathi R, et al. Influence of nonpolio enteroviruses and the bacterial gut microbiota on oral poliovirus vaccine response: a study from South India. J Infect Dis 2018:1–9. <u>https://doi. org/10.1093/infdis/iiv568</u>.
- [55] Orme I, Roberts A, Collins F. Lack of evidence for a reduction in the efficacy of subcutaneous BCG vaccination in mice infected with nontuberculous mycobacteria. Tubercle 1986;67:41–6.
- [56] Smith D, Reeser P, Musa S. Does infection with environmental mycobacteria suppress the protective response to subsequent vaccination with BCG?. Tubercle 1985;66:17–23.
- [57] Faden H, Duffy L. Effect of concurrent viral infection on systemic and local antibody responses to live attenuated and enhaced-potency inactivated poliovirus vaccines. Am J Dis Child 1992;146:1320–3.
- [58] Medina E, Guzma CA. Use of live bacterial vaccine vectors for antigen delivery: potential and limitations. Vaccine 2001;19:1573–80.
- [59] Brown J, Baisley K, Kavishe B, Changalucha J, Andreasen A, Mayaud P, et al. Impact of malaria and helminth infections on immunogenicity of the human papillomavirus-16/18 AS04-adjuvanted vaccine in Tanzania. Vaccine 2014;32:611-7. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2013.11.061</u>.
- [60] Muhsen K, Lagos R, Reymann MK, Graham DY, Pasetti MF, Levine MM. Agedependent association among helicobacter pylori infection, serum pepsinogen levels and immune response of children to live oral cholera vaccine CVD. PLoS One 2014;9:e839999. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0083999</u>.
- [61] Guan F, Hou X, Nie G, Xiao Y, Zhang Q, Liu W, et al. Effect of *Trichinella spiralis* Infection On The Immune Response to HBV vaccine in a mouse model. Foodborne Pathog Dis 2013;10:882–7. <u>https://doi.org/10.1089/fpd.2013.1545</u>.
- [62] Hartmann W, Eschbach M, Breloar M. Strongyloides ratti infection modulates B and T cell responses to third party antigens. Exp Parasitol 2012;132:69–75.
- [63] Rurangirwa F, Musoke A, Nantulya V, Tabel H. Immune depression in bovine trypanosomiasis: effects of acute and chronic Trypanosoma congolense and chronic Trypanosoma vivax infections on antibody response to Brucella abortus vaccine. Parasite Immunol 1983;5:267–76.
- [64] Onah D, Wakelin D. Murine model study of the practical implication of trypanosome-induced immunosuppression in vaccine-based disease control programmes. Vet Immunol Immunopathol 2000;74:271–84.
- [65] Wykes MN, Zhou Y, Liu XQ, Good MF, Wykes MN, Zhou Y, et al. Plasmodium yoelii can ablate vaccine-induced long-term protection in mice. J Immunol 2005;175:2510–6. <u>https://doi.org/10.4049/ijmmunol.175.4.2510</u>.
- [66] Mooney JP, Lee S, Lokken KL, Nanton MR. Transient loss of protection afforded by a live attenuated non-typhoidal salmonella vaccine in mice co-infected with malaria. PLoS Negl Trop Dis 2015;9:1–18. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pntd.0004027</u>.
- [67] Parra M, Derrick SC, Yang A, Tian J, Kolibab K, Oakley M, et al. Malaria infections do not compromise vaccine-induced immunity against tuberculosis in mice. PLoS One 2011;6:2–12. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0028164</u>.
- [68] Kitikoon P, Vincent AL, Jones KR, Nilubol D, Yu S, Janke BH, et al. Vaccine efficacy and immune response to swine influenza virus challenge in pigs infected with porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus at the time of SIV vaccination. Vet Microbiol 2009;139:235–44. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j. vetmic.2009.06.003</u>.
- [69] Storey HL, Singa B, Naulikha J, Horton H, Richardson BA, John-Stewart G, et al. Soil transmitted helminth infections are not associated with compromised antibody responses to previously administered measles and tetanus vaccines among HIV-1 infected, ART naïve Kenyan adults. Parasite Epidemiol Control 2017;2:13–20. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.parepi.2016.12.003</u>.
- [70] Shollenberger LM, Bui CT, Paterson Y, Nyhoff L, Harn DA. HIV-1 vaccinespecific responses induced by Listeria vector vaccines are maintained in mice subsequently infected with a model helminth parasite, Schistosoma mansoni. Vaccine 2013;31:5651–8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/i.vaccine.2013.09.067</u>.
- [71] Stutzer C, Richards SA, Ferreira M, Baron S, Maritz-Olivier C. Metazoan parasite vaccines: Present status and future prospects. Front Cell Infect Microbiol 2018;8. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fcimb.2018.00067</u>.
- [72] Frey J. Biological safety concepts of genetically modified live bacterial vaccines. Vaccine 2007;25:5598–605. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2006.11.058</u>.
- [73] Witt MA, Arias L, Katz PH, Truong ET, Witt DJ. Reduced risk of pertussis among persons ever vaccinated with whole cell pertussis vaccine compared to recipients of acellular pertussis vaccines in a large US cohort. Clin Infect Dis 2013;56:1248–54. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/cid/cit046</u>.
- [74] Noland GS, Chowdhury DR, Urban JF, Zavala F, Kumar N. Helminth infection impairs the immunogenicity of a Plasmodium falciparum DNA vaccine, but not irradiated sporozoites, in mice. Vaccine 2010;28:2917–23. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.vaccine.2010.02.055</u>.
- [75] Hartmann W, Haben I, Fleischer B, Breloer M. Pathogenic nematodes suppress humoral responses to third-party antigens in vivo by IL-10 – mediated

Please cite this article as: L. F. Wait, A. P. Dobson and A. L. Graham, Do parasite infections interfere with immunisation? A review and meta-analysis, Vaccine, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2020.06.064

8

ARTICLE IN PRESS

L.F. Wait et al./Vaccine xxx (xxxx) xxx

interference with Th cell function. J Immunol 2011;187:4088–99. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.1004136.

- [76] Altenburg AF, Van Trierum SE, De Bruin E, De Meulder D. Effects of pre-existing orthopoxvirus-specific immunity on the performance of modified vaccinia virus Ankara-based influenza vaccines. Sci Rep 2018;8:1–14. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1038/s41598-018-24820-2</u>.
- [77] Elias D, Britton S, Aseffa A, Engers H, Akuffo H. Poor immunogenicity of BCG in helminth infected population is associated with increased in vitro TGF-β production. Vaccine 2008;26:3897–902. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2008.04.083</u>.
- [78] Su Z, Segura M, Stevenson MM. Reduced protective efficacy of a blood-stage malaria vaccine by concurrent nematode infection. Infect Immun 2006;74:2138–44. <u>https://doi.org/10.1128/IAI.74.4.2138-2144.2006</u>.